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Introduction 

 

I first came to Hawley Infants School as a parent in May, 1974, when my elder 

daughter started in the Nursery; my second daughter followed her in June, 1976, and 

in September, 1977 I followed them as a classroom assistant – or “primary helper” as 

they were called then. I remained on the staff, becoming the school secretary in 

1981, until I left in May, 1999 to take up a full-time post with Camden Education 

Department providing IT support to primary schools. I was also on the school’s 

governing body from the mid-1980s until I left in 1999. 

 

Finding an old floorplan of the school, dated 1912 and showing not just the Infants 

school but also another school building for Boys and Girls on a site north of the school 

with its entrance on Hawley Crescent, made me curious to know more about the 

history of the school: when was it built? What became of the Junior school building? 

What was it like to go to school there in the early days? I did a little early research in 

the Camden Local History Collection at Holborn library while still on the staff but was 

unable to find very much information – some old ordnance survey maps showed that 

there was no school there in 1870 but was in 1895, for example. 

 

The prospect of the move to the new Hawley Primary School building gave me the 

incentive to try again to discover what the history of the old Hawley Infants School 

was and with the help of the resources of the London Metropolitan Archive, the 

Camden History Collection again and the internet (which of course did not exist when 

I first became interested back in the 1980s!) I have been able to put together the 

information in this document about what started as Hawley Crescent Board School, 

became Hawley Crescent Primary School when the London Country Council took over 

from the original London School Board and finally ended up as Hawley Infants School 

after the depredations of World War 2 bombing. 

 

Jean MacRae 

October 2015-June2016 

 

 

 

 

 

Thanks are due to the Camden Local History Collection staff for their help with finding 

materials about the school and for allowing it to be used in this document and also to 

the London Metropolitan Archive for permission to use copies of materials held in their 

collections. 
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The school buildings 

 

Hawley Crescent Board School opened in 1874 and was one of the first of the London 

School Board establishments resulting from the 1870 Education Act. This act was the 

first legislation to require that all children between the ages of 5 and 13 should be 

educated, though initially this was neither compulsory nor free. In London however 

bye-laws were passed by 1871 to make attendance required and by 1891 the state 

had made elementary education free. 

 

The scale of providing education for all in London was so great that a school board to 

manage it was established from the outset and one of its tasks was of course to 

provide the buildings in which the children would be educated. To this end they 

appointed Edward Robert Robson as their chief architect and it was he who designed 

the Hawley Crescent Board School in 1873. 

 

E.R. Robson had a very visionary approach to his task: 

he believed … that the new schools were ‘henceforth to take rank as public buildings, 

and should be planned and built in a manner befitting their new dignity.’  In a more 

sonorous phrase, he described them as ‘sermons in brick’.”  

from Schools of the London School Board https://municipaldreams.wordpress.com/2013/05/28/the-london-

school-board-sermons-in-brick 

 

He designed several hundred London schools during his time with the London School Board, 

from 1871-1884, and many of these are still in use. Two fine examples which remain in 

Camden are Primrose Hill and the school in Holmes Road now occupied by the Collège 

Bilingue de France.  

 

The Hawley Crescent Board School was built on a very narrow site running from 

Hawley Crescent through to Buck Street at the back of the houses on Stucley Place to 

the west and Kentish Town Road to the east. The maps below show the site before 

and after the school was built: 

 
The school consisted of a large 3-tier building opening off Hawley Crescent for boys 

and girls up to the age of 13 and a one storey building on the Buck Street end of the 

site for Infants and Babies, as nursery was then called. This infant school building is, 

of course, the one still in use today.  

https://municipaldreams.wordpress.com/2013/05/28/the-london-school-board-sermons-in-brick
https://municipaldreams.wordpress.com/2013/05/28/the-london-school-board-sermons-in-brick


 

The Junior school building 

 

The 3-tier Junior school building had classroom accommodation originally for 350 

boys and 274 girls.  

 
 

There are no photos of the Junior school building available but there is a glimpse of it 

in this photo taken in 1904 of the Devonshire Arms public house, showing what must 

have been a rather lovely stair turret: 

 
Reproduced by permission of Camden Local History Collection 

 

The only other pictures are two of E. R. Robson’s original architectural elevation 

drawings which are in the collections of the London Metropolitan Archive – both show 

the stair turret: 

 



 

 

 
reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive  

 

In 1888, a further wing was added to the original building as this architectural 

elevation drawing shows: 

 



 
reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive  

 

and another of the 1904 photos of the Devonshire Arms shows a glimpse of the top 

floor of this addition: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of Camden Local History Collection 

The ground floor plan for this addition shows a further boys’ covered playground and 

new entrance and stairs for girls; we have no plans showing the upper floors: 



 
 

In 1912 more additions were made to the original building and the playground was 

increased in size by the removal of several of the houses on Kentish Town Road; this 

photo from 1913 shows the houses in the process of demolition and also a portion of 

the 1888 addition: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

At the far left can be seen the Trinity Methodist Church which is still on the corner of 

Buck Street and the two houses which still remain on the corner of Buck Street and 

Kentish Town Road.  

 



The 1912 ground floor plan for the Junior school shows that the stair turret was 

removed and an additional section was added to the building with a “girls’ teachers 

room” and a covered playground for girls and infants; there were two upper storeys 

on this addition as the architectural elevations drawings below show: 

 

 
 

 
reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive  

 

but we have no floor plans for the other floors.  

 

As part of this remodelling, classroom accommodation was reduced to 290 boys and 

270 girls. There were no further additions made to the Junior school building after 

1912. 

 

 



The Infant school building 

The 1873 floorplan of the Infant school building was considerably smaller than the 

building we know today: 

 

 
It did not include the three classrooms on the east side of the building, which were 

only added as part of the 1912 remodelling which extended the school site, as seen 

on the two maps below – additions highlighted: 

 
The east wall of the current school hall clearly shows the embrasures which would 

originally have been windows in the outside wall of the original building: 



 

 
Three were made into doors for the classrooms; one still has a window. 

 

Despite having so few classrooms, the original building accommodated 333 Infants, 

some of whom must have been taught in the hall as was common practice in Victorian 

schools. The “babies” had their own classroom and cloakroom where the current 

Nursery and Nursery toilets are: even the “babies” in this early school had outside 

WCs.  

 

The 1912 remodelling provided the three new classrooms but also reduced the 

number of children to be accommodated to 279: 

 

 
The number of pupils to be taught in each room is shown on the plan: 45 in the 

“babies” classroom and in classroom B, 48 each in classrooms D, E and F. It would 

seem that even the “babies” would have been sitting at desks. 

 



There are no early photos of the Infant school building. All we have is another photo 

from 1913 which has a glimpse of the upper part of the building – the belfry is just 

visible. This photo also includes the two remaining houses on the corner as they 

originally were: the corner house is advertising  

“C. SMITH & SONS – SCULPTORS MOULDERS AND ART CAST POLISHERS” – perhaps 

the business of the occupant? 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

No architect’s drawings of the Infant building were in the LMA collection – there is 

only one from the 1912 remodelling plans of the southern end of the new classroom 

block: 

 

. 

This is a “section” which shows the internal wall between this classroom and the next. 

 

The 1912 remodelling plans also show the first floor plan – it is not clear whether this 

was being added or was a remodelling of an existing first floor over the “babies” 

cloakroom: 

 



 
 

At some later date the Assistant Mistresses Room became the staff room and the 

Stockroom next to the Head Mistress Room became first a cloakroom for the head 

and then much later the secretary’s office. 

 

From 1912 we have no evidence of any further additions or alterations to the Infant 

school building until the 1950s. The first change made, probably when the school was 

re-opened after the war in 1948, was to turn one of the classrooms into a kitchen – 

there is a reference in the School Record Book in 1955 to the “kitchen (Class B)”. 

Presumably at the same time, a back extension was built which had storage for the 

kitchen, as shown on the (unfortunately undated!) floor plan below: 

 

 
At some point after this, the smaller store room became the “ladies coffee room”, we 

presume for the kitchen staff, and in the early 1980s the remaining store room and 

the room labelled “cloaks” was converted into a sitting room and kitchen for the 

school’s new extended day after-school facility for children too young to attend the 

ILEA playcentres, as shown on this plan: 

 



 
 

Another change in the 1950s was to put indoor toilets in for the Nursery children. 

Although there seem always to have been indoor WCs for the school staff, all the 

children, including the “babies”, had only outdoor toilet facilities. This major work was 

discussed initially at a meeting recorded in the Headteacher’s logbook on 27th April, 

1959: 

 

 
but a further extract from the Headteacher’s log book shows that they were not 

actually installed until September, 1961: 

 

 
 

This was clearly a major work, as the floor plans below show, one of the space as it 

was and one the proposed new toilet facilities: 

 



 
 

 
 

The Infant children continued to use the old outdoor toilets until the early 1980s. A 

pupil who was at the school from 1976-1980 remembers: 
… the toilets being outside when you were bigger and them being really cold in 

winter and having that nasty council toilet paper that was like tracing paper (we 
actually sometimes used bits for tracing paper in class) and not at all absorbent 

so you would get wee on your hands... 

and a classroom helper that: 



We sent the children out in pairs if they had to go during lesson time. If they 

didn’t come back after a reasonable time, I would go out and would often find 

them playing! 

 

The plans for the Infant indoor toilet block entailed building the extension shown 

below: 

 
 

onto the east end of the existing washbasin block shown in this 1912 plan: 

 

 
 

The plan for these indoor toilets is not dated but they were in use from about the 

mid-1980s. 

 

Early in the 2000s, a mezzanine floor was added to Classroom C, which had ceased to 

be a classroom from the early 1970s and was instead used as a library/general 

purposes space. The mezzanine provided a much-needed staff work space. This was 

the last major change made to the infant school building.  

  



Education in Hawley Crescent School 

 

What was it like to go to school at Hawley Crescent Board School? We have little 

direct evidence about this but we can use information we do have to give some idea. 

 

We know from the floor plans for the renovations in 1912 that there would have been 

far more pupils in each class than is now the case. Anyone who knows the Hawley 

Infants School building will be startled to see from these that before 1912 there was 

accommodation for 333 Infant pupils, especially as before the 1912 renovations the 

three classrooms on the east side of the building did not exist! There were only the 

two classrooms on the west (which became in modern times the Nursery and school 

kitchen) and the classroom on the north which became in modern times a 

library/general purpose room.  

 

How then were these children “accommodated”? E.R. Robson’s book “School 

Architecture” in the chapter on Infant Schools states that “the greatest number of 

Infants which can be managed with comfort by the average mistress appears to be 

250, though some can control 300”! Robson also provides designs for Infant schools 

consisting of a large “school-room” and at least one separate classroom for the 

“babies” (children under 4) as “instruction given herein is little more than amusement 

under direction but the marching and other exercises create noise and complete 

separation by a wall is therefore indispensable”; he adds that a “pane of clear glass” 

must be provided in the wall dividing the “babies” room from the school-room “to 

enable the mistress to see how these youngest children are being interested” and that 

“the pupil-teacher intended for the management of an entirely  untrained class should 

never be a beginner”, an interesting insight into the staffing of Infant schools where it 

was common practice to use pupil-teachers under the supervision of a senior 

mistress. He goes on to describe how older Infant children would be seated in 

stepped “galleries” at fixed desks with built-in seats – the drawing below shows a 

gallery and the type of desk: 

 

;  

E.R. Robson, School Architecture, p 190 
Very specific space requirements for this galleried seating are given and he states 

that “the larger [gallery] being never so large as to accommodate more than 72 

children, allowing 14 inches to each”! The school hall and the two classrooms other 

than the “babies” room could thus indeed have provided for the stated number of 

children, even if this “Infant” number did not (as is possible) include any of the 

“babies” (two  19thc admission registers for the infants school show there were 

children of only 3 years old admitted) - assuming, that is, that as Robson also states 



in this chapter the room sizes were sufficient to provide not less than “eight feet to 

each infant [as] below this standard as to space no government grant on results will 

be paid and the school will also be condemned as overcrowded.” The following entry 

from an Inspection report dated February 1905 indicates that the space in the Infant 

school is causing concern: 

 

 
 

The Junior school before 1912 had accommodation for 350 boys and 274 girls, a total 

of 624. Boys and girls were taught separately. The Junior building was much bigger 

and was 3 storeys high but even so there would have been many more pupils in each 

classroom than nowadays.  

 

Following the 1912 renovations, the three east side classrooms were added to the 

Infant building and the number of Infant pupils was reduced to 279 There were then 

6 classrooms for them: the 1912 plan shows that each of the new classrooms could 

have 48 pupils and the 3 original rooms would have 45 each; they would still have 

needed to be seated in “galleries” of tiered desks, though with fewer in each room. To 

put this in perspective, Hawley Infants classrooms are currently deemed suitable by 

their floor space for only 29 pupils each. 

 

We don’t have any Victorian photos of classes at Hawley but this one of a class of 

Junior school girls which dates from 1910 gives some idea of the layout and of how 

crowded the classrooms were: 

 
 

This is an Infant class in 1926 – the person who gave it to the school was 5 at the 

time, so these are Reception-age children: 



 

 
As part of his book on School Architecture, E.R. Robson, the London School Board 

architect, included an appendix, “Regulations of the School Board for London” and 

some extracts from this are below: 

 
This is followed by a lengthy section on providing non-denominational instruction in 

“morality and religion” based solely on the bible provisions for prayers and hymns. 

Section II give details of what should be taught in Infant schools: 

 

 
  



Section III covers Junior schools: 

 

 
 E.R. Robson, School Architecture, Appendix C p 425 

 

The classrooms would have had educational pictures and charts on the walls, some of 

which can be seen in the two classroom photos above and also in this further photo, 

provided by the same person as the 1926 Infant classroom photo, of the same group 

of children in the school hall when they were “babies” in 1925: 

 

 
 

There was not a great deal of emphasis on anything other than the “3 Rs” (Reading, 

wRiting and aRithmetic) in the Infant school curriculum. We do however have pictorial 

evidence that music formed a part of the Infant curriculum (if only for singing hymns 

and patriotic songs) from the photo below, posted in the Facebook group “Camden: A 

pictorial history”.  

  



The caption is “Empire Day at Hawley Crescent School c 1915” and it shows the 

children sitting by a piano in the school hall. 

 
 

Note also the rocking horse…there was a similar rocking horse in the nursery at 

Hawley well into the 1990s: could it have been the same one? 

 

Class sizes and teaching methods were not the only things that would have been very 

different from today in Hawley Crescent Board School. Among the very few 

documents specific to Hawley which are available from the London Metropolitan 

Archive are some early pupil admissions books for both Infant and Junior schools. 

These books contained columns for basic information about the child: date of 

admission, name of child, parent’s name (always the father except rarely when the 

mother was the sole parent) address, whether exempted from religious education 

claimed, date of birth, previous school if any, whether it was a “public elementary 

school” and time spent in other schools. Then there were columns for assessment 

information: Standard when last presented (presumably at previous school) and 6 

columns for the Standards achieved in Hawley Crescent Board School – these were 

levels of proficiency in reading writing and arithmetic and did not correspond to year 

groups, with many children not completing all of them. These columns were for use 

only in the Junior school. The final 2 columns were one for date of leaving the school 

and the last a column headed Remarks.  

 

The Remarks column in the Infants admissions book gave details of where the child 

had gone on leaving the school, but in the Junior school the entries here were far 

more interesting! It seems to have been used for further comments on pupils’ 

learning and school attendance. Some of these remarks are reasonable comments, 

such as “nine years old and doesn’t know his letters”, “very poor reader”, “can’t do 

money sums” (remember, this would have been in the old currency with 

complications such as 12 pennies to a shilling and 20 shillings to a pound!), “away six 

months through illness”, “ordered by doctor to leave school for a time”. Others 

however are often in terms that nowadays would be considered very inappropriate: 

“doesn’t look 12. Very backward for age” (the word “backward” is frequently used: on 

one page 12 boys are described as such), “truant and dunce”, “notorious truant”, “a 

complete dunce”, “a bad stammerer, failed in reading in II. Defective”. One 



unfortunate boy is described as “very backward for age (15) but was subject to fits in 

early age and has been absent for years together.” For another, the entry reads 

simply “has been much afflicted” and a boy on the same page has “Truant, and on 

license” which is likely to mean that he is out on license from one of the Industrial 

Schools to which destitute and vagrant children were sent.  

 

However it does seem that perhaps the frequency of these sorts of remarks reflects 

the social status of the area around the school from which the children come: it 

seems to indicate perhaps a level of deprivation which makes it hard for these boys to 

do well at school. At the end of the 19th century, Charles Booth, the Victorian 

reformer who at the end of the 19th century did a vast amount of research for his 

books on “Life and Labour of the People in London” and his research notebooks  and 

“poverty maps” detailing conditions street by street all over London are available 

online at http://booth.lse.ac.uk. Booth used colour-coding in his notebooks to denote 

the level of prosperity the each street from which he created the maps. These show 

the streets immediately around the school as mainly purple (mixed, some 

comfortable, others poor) with a few pink (fairly comfortable, good ordinary 

earnings); the only exceptions to this are some of the houses in Stucley Place which 

are light blue (poor 18s. to 21s. a week  for a moderate family) and a few 

houses in Union Terrace (a street between Buck Street and Camden Town Station 

which is no longer there) which are dark blue (very poor casual. Chronic want) 

and described in the notebook as “brothels”  

 

A quotation from a novel by George Gissing, The Nether World, written in 1889 is also 

interesting in this context as it suggests that perhaps the more comfortably off 

families sent their children to smaller private or church schools: 

Chapter IX, p 78 

 

Another Remark from the Admissions register worth noting is: “turned out of Fleet 

Road Junior Sch for non-payment of fees, so mother says”. While the 1870 Education 

Act had legislated for all children between 5 and 13 to attend school, schooling was 

not yet free and weekly fees were charged – at Hawley Inspection reports from the 

1870s and 1880s state: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

The school board could decide to pay the fees for any child whose parent was in their 

opinion unable to do so, but it was not until the 1891 Elementary Education Act that 

education for these children became free:  

http://booth.lse.ac.uk/


 
 

There are a number of Inspection reports for Hawley Crescent School available in the 

London Metropolitan Archives for the period up to the mid-1920s and these give an 

insight into education at the school. Most of these are only summaries, attached to 

schedules regarding statistics such as fees, grants and attendance, but there are two 

“Inspection and Examination” reports, for 1879 and 1880, and two from the 1920s 

which give fuller picture.  

 

The one for 1879 is a good example of how schools were assessed in the Victorian 

period. It starts with general information about the school: 



 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

The entries in the section on Discipline are interesting: corporal punishment was 

allowed (and in fact continued to be allowed in schools up into the 1970s!) but there 

were strict rules about who could administer it and how it must be recorded, as per 

the Regulations of the School Board for London included by E.R. Robson in his book 

“School Architecture” quoted above. 



 

The pupils work was examined each year and page 2 of the report gives the results: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 



 

 

The third page of the report gives information about the school roll and classes, 

attendance and staff – the attendance statistics are not very good with a lot of 

children absent on the day of the inspection: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

The staff includes a number of pupil teachers, 3 with Junior boys, 2 with Junior girls 

and 2 with Infants. Becoming a pupil teacher was a way that children who had done 

well could stay on past school leaving age to help teachers in exchange for receiving 

further lessons themselves for free with the possibility of themselves becoming 

qualified teachers. These pupil teachers could be in charge of a class (for example, 

the “Babies” class in the Infants might well have been in the charge of one) under the 

overview of a teacher, thus enabling the school to manage all classes with fewer 

teaching staff. At Hawley at the time of this inspection the girls in Standards IV, V 

and VI are shown as being taught by one “Ex-P.T.” and one P.T. under the 

supervision of the Head Teacher. The boys in Standard I and IV each have a P.T., also 

under the supervision of the head teacher, while Standard II with 110 pupils has a 

teacher and a P.T. The 1879 Inspection report has a section detailing the teaching 

time given to these pupil teachers: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

The report ends with some General remarks: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 



The “Inspection and Examination” report for 1880 is similar; some staffing changes 

have taken place (Mr Montagnon has been replaced and one of the pupil teachers has 

clearly qualified as she is now an assistant teacher), assessments in certain subjects 

have improved but in others have gone down, attendance percentage for the quarter 

is lower but more pupils were present on the day of the examination and the final 

summary is: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

The summary reports available are for September, 1878, September 1880, 

September, 1883, October, 1885, and September 1886. They consist of a general 

statement about the Boys school, the Girls school and the Infants followed by a 

second page regarding fees and grants – the statement from October, 1885, is a 

typical example: 

 

 

 



 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

A report from the  Managers is also available for the year ended June, 1901 and gives 

interesting information of things other than the examined subjects: 



 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

It is interesting to note from this that even the children in the “Babies” class (who 

could be as young as 3) were clearly expected to be seated: presumably the 

replacement of desks by the type of galleried seating described earlier in this 

document may have at least provided a bit more floor space for them?  

 

Beyond the Victorian period, there are only two reports from the 1920s available, one 

from June/July 1924 for the Boys’ school and one from July, 1927, for the Girls’ 

school. These are much different in style to the Victorian inspections quoted above. 

Both start with information about the accommodation within the school and 

recommendation for its improvement, followed by a section on the neighbourhood 

from which the children come.  

 

In the 1924 report this is very brief: 

 

 

Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 



 

The remainder of the 1924 report on the Boys school is criticism of its organisation, 

curriculum and syllabuses, which were clearly a cause of serious concern, with only 

general mention of a few subject areas as they are relevant to this; a reference is 

made to “detailed reports” of the curriculum areas which are not included with the 

part of this report which has survived. This section begins with information about the 

staff: 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

It continues by expressing very serious concerns about the leadership of the school: 

 



 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

The remainder of the report covers the detail of each of these issues – organisation, 

curriculum and syllabuses and finishes: 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

The 1927 report on the Girls’ school has much more detail on the neighbourhood: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 



A section on Equipment follows (it is “satisfactory”) and then one on organisation and 

curriculum: 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

It continues with “general comments” on organisation and curriculum and then has a 

section for the individual subject areas taught to the girls. The curriculum seems to 

be more extensive than that laid down by the London School Board regulations 

quoted earlier: the girls are taught, English, History, Geography, Arithmetic, Science, 

Handwork, Drawing, Music, Needlework and Physical Education. Some interesting 

features:  

Arithmetic includes “a useful section [which] deals with domestic accounts, 

measurements, etc., including savings, rent, rates and taxes”. 

Science “provides for Nature Study in the lower classes, with hygiene and a little 

physiology in the upper ones…. In the upper classes hygiene is so taught as to 

rouse the interest of the girls and to give them much useful knowledge”[it is a 

shame there are not more details about what the “useful knowledge was”!]. 

Handwork is only taught in the lower three classes and is related to what they 

are doing in arithmetic, history, geography and nature study. “Paper, clay and 

plasticene are the media generally employed, but in one class straw plait had 

been used to great advantage”! 

Drawing shows “good results” and concludes “the children are receiving valuable 

lessons in the appreciation of beauty, apart from the mechanical technique of the 

subject. 

 

The report ends: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

  



Hawley and the Second World War 

 

At the outbreak of WW II in September, 1939, the evacuation of children from London 

meant that most schools were closed and many of them were requisitioned for use by 

the Civil Defence Services. Whilst not an ARP depot, Hawley was used as sleeping 

accommodation for the depot in Inverness Street: 

 

 

 
From Wartime St Pancras, p 15 

Reproduced by permission of Camden Local History Collection 

 

In the minutes of the LCC Education Sub-Committee from January, 1948, it is 

mentioned that Hawley is to be reopened “after being reconditioned following 

occupation by the National Fire Service” and there was until recently this very faded 

notice on the wall of the Infants school building which clearly relates to that: 

 
 



And a document in the information that was put together for the fight to save the 

school from closure in 1974 has this information:  

…there is evidence that the Infants was used as a fire station: various signs 

painted on the walls remain… and the grandfather of one child recently at the 

school can remember sleeping in the hall when it was his turn on fire duty. 

Unfortunately that grandfather’s name is not known! 

 

In October, 1940, the Blitz began in London. The map below shows the high explosive 

bombs dropped in the vicinity of the school between 7 October and 6 June, 1941: 

 
From the “Bomb Sight – Mapping the World War 2 London Blitz” Bomb Census website 

 

The school site is marked in yellow on the map above. Although it appears that the 

Junior school building did not receive a direct hit, the bomb in Hawley Crescent was 

very near and it is likely that considerable damage was caused. Another map from 

“The London County Council Bomb Damage Maps, 1939-45” shows the Junior school 

building as purple – the colour for “damaged beyond repair”: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 



A bomb also fell just south of Buck Street but the Infant school building was 

apparently not affected by this, although houses opposite and in Dewsbury Terrace 

(where the Camden market is now) were badly damaged – shown as purple on the 

map on the previous page. 

 

There are no photographs of the area in Hawley Crescent where the bomb fell, but 

there are of the bombing of Camden Town Tube station, which may well have 

happened on the same night:: 

 

 
 

One of the two entrances to the Camden Town deep level air raid shelter was 

opposite the Infants school in Buck Street – and is still there, next to the market site: 

 

 
  



 

After the war 

 

Minutes for the London County Council Primary Education Sub-committee meeting on 

28 January, 1948, have the following entry: 

 

 
Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

The Infants’ school on Buck Street was re-opened on 30 August, 1948, as recorded in 

the School Record book which is in Hawley’s archives: 

 

 
 

Miss Boswood was in due course appointed as headmistress and remained at the 

school until her retirement in December, 1965. The school 

was renamed in 1949 (minuted in the LCC Sub-Committee report for 7 December) 

from Hawley Crescent Primary to simply Hawley.  

 

The Junior school was still standing as in shown in this undated plan relating to 

alterations and repairs to school drains which must be from around this time: 



 
 

Here the Junior building is marked BOMB DAMAGED and there is chain link fencing 

indicated between it and the Infant building.  

 

We sadly have no information as to when the Junior building was finally demolished. 

An entry in the Headteachers’ School Record book for 16 May, 1955 shows that the 

site was still empty: 

 

 
 

A further clue comes from a London County Council Establishment Report dated 3 

December,. 1957,  

Office accommodation – appropriation. 
1. We have approved a proposal that about 0.095 acre of that part of the site of the 

former Hawley primary school (St Pancras North) which is no longer required for 

education purposes shall be appropriated for the erection of a prefabricated building for 

the Camden Town youth employment bureau, which is at present housed in 

unsatisfactory premises at 27  Kentish Town Road (St Pancras North) 

The transfer value of the site is £4000 and an estimate will be submitted after the 

consultations… have taken place. 

Reproduced by permission of London Metropolitan Archive 

 

The tender for erection of this building was only finally approved in November, 1960 – 

the resulting building later became the Careers Office and remained in use till the 

1990s.  

 

 



Clearly by then there was no plan to have a Junior school building on the site and this 

seems to be confirmed by a later minute dated 15 May 1962 which approves the 

leasing of property in Hawley Crescent and Kentish Town Rd to the London Co-

operative Society for use as a milk distribution depot – the Kentish Town Road 

building that resulted was between the Infants school site and the Careers Office site 

and therefore had been part of the original school and it can be presumed that the 

Hawley Crescent site was the Junior school buildings frontage next to the Devonshire 

Arms. The 1963 Ordnance survey map would appear to pre-date these buildings as it 

shows the Junior school site as empty except for the Youth Employment Service 

building: 

 

 
 

Interestingly, if it is accurate, it also shows the Infants playground as not including 

the area immediately north of the building: perhaps that section was added when the 

Co-op depots were built. 

 

The other mystery is when and why a decision was taken to re-open the Infant school 

but not to rebuild the Junior school, leaving Hawley as a standalone Infant school with 

no junior department. Other schools in the borough received heavy bomb damage but 

were rebuilt – for example, Gospel Oak which was completely destroyed. We can only 

speculate that it was originally planned that the Junior building would be rebuilt but 

that for some reason funding was never available.  

 



Proposed closure of Hawley Infants School 

 

In October, 1975, the headteacher Mrs Jessie Parrish was killed in a car accident 

during the half term holiday and the deputy, Mrs Sophie Darlow, became Acting Head. 

As a result of the headship vacancy, the ILEA considered the future of the school 

(their report to the school Managers stated “it is usual practice when a headship 

becomes vacant for consideration to be given to the present position of the school 

and its likely future”) and the Education Committee Development Sub-committee 

issued a report on 21 Jan 1975 which begins: 

 

 
 

The report continues with statistics for other schools “in the area served by Hawley” 

from which it concludes that: 



 
 

The Sub Committee’s report was sent to the Town Clerk and Chief Executive of 

Camden on 18 February, 1975, and he informed the school Managers on 25 February. 

The Divisional Officer, the District Inspector and the clerk to the Managers also met 

with Sophie Darlow, the acting headteacher to tell her of the proposals and to invite 

the school to submit their response “within two days”. 

 

This was done and the “submission of views” from the Acting Head Sophie Darlow and 

the staff dated 27th February makes interesting reading because it focuses on reasons 

why Hawley is a successful school “precisely because of its size”: 

 



 
 

Divisional Office 2, under which Hawley Infants came, then organised a Managers’ 

meeting for 6 March to consider the report and its proposal to close the school. The 

papers for this meeting included a further report to the Managers giving more 

estimated information about school population in the Hawley area over the next 5 

years, including the fall in “live births in Camden” and the effects of proposed housing 

development on the number of primary-aged pupils. Their estimated 1980 primary 

roll figure shows a drop of over a thousand children on the May, 1974 rolls: 

 



At the meeting on 6 March, the Managers made their opposition to the ILEA’s 

proposed closure very clear and also produced their own statistics which showed that 

there was in fact a rising child population in the catchment area of the school. 

 

Following this meeting, the headteacher and chair of governors called a meeting for 

parents on 12th March, which was well attended despite the short notice. The meeting 

was also attended by local papers. Opposition to the proposal to close was unanimous 

and it was resolved to send a petition to the ILEA, to appoint a sub-committee of 

parents to draw up a memorandum to submit to the ILEA and to write to Jock 

Stallard, the local MP, to local papers and to other interested individuals and bodies. 

 

The Memorandum to the ILEA regarding the proposed closure focuses entirely on the 

quality of the school both in the education it offers the children and in its position as a 

genuine “community” school which provides for the needs of the different socio-

economic groups and multi-racial nature of Camden Town. It emphasizes that it is in 

part the small size of the school which enables the children’s education to meet their 

individual needs. It also mentions that parents are made to feel welcome and 

encouraged to take an interest in the education of their children and the policy of the 

school in accepting voluntary help from parents, all factors which ensure that 

“barriers between the cultures of school and home are… broken down because 

parents are in sympathy with what the school is trying to do”. There is also a long 

section on how the school are providing a “flexible learning environment” and have 

made changes to “create a special matrix which allows for flexibility in the learning 

groups and for variation in teaching styles, patterns of classroom activities, work 

displays, organisational arrangements and social relations” which “is, in [their] view, a 

valuable alternative within the tradition of British Education. That parents in Camden 

should have the option of sending their children to such a school is a matter of great 

educational significance.” And they finish by saying: “we are aware that the Schools 

Council is going to begin a three year evaluation of “Open Education” in a project 

which will be based at Lancaster University” and that “Hawley Infants’…could provide 

an outstanding example of flexible education in the ILEA”. 

 

Several local papers reported on the meeting at the school and published letters – 

two examples below: 



 
Camden Journal, 21 March 1975 



 

Express & News, 21 March 1975 

 

The letter campaign on the part of staff, managers and parents was also extensive 

and letters were sent, among others, to Jock Stallard, MP, who vigorously supported 

the school staying open, to members of the ILEA and the GLC, to the Advisory Council 

for Education and the NUT. A petition was organised and was sent to the Education 

Officer for submission to the Sub-committee. 

 

Following on from the consultations with Managers and parents and the further 

statistical documentation provided by the ILEA in support of their case for closure, 

Michael Conolly, the chair of the Managers, prepared the school’s submission to the 

ILEA Development Sub-Committee with the following cover letter: 



 

 
The document covered five main points:  

 

 
 

Mr Conolly addresses the two reasons that the ILEA had given for closure, namely 

that “the child population on Inner London and, in particular in the Camden Town 



area is in decline” and that “there are sufficient places available in nearby schools to 

absorb the Hawley children”.  

 

For the first point, he provided arguments backed by statistical research to show that 

“the figures … given to support this…are irrelevant, imprecise and misleading” and 

that in fact while the figures given by the ILEA may be accurate for Inner London and 

for the borough of Camden as a whole, in fact for Camden Town specifically while the 

school’s roll had indeed fallen between 1971 & 1973 this “coincided with a mass of 

housing loss due to local redevelopment” and with the opening of a new Catholic 

school with an Infant department. It was therefore temporary and already since 1973 

had stabilised and begun to increase. The report provides considerable supporting 

evidence of relevant population trends/movements and birth rates. 

 

For the second point, he states that “this argument does not take into account” the 

loss of 50 half-time nursery places at a time when “the declared aim of the ILEA is to 

increase” nursery provision. His report provides supporting information about the 

ILEA’s policies with regard to the need for nursery education, which must be local 

particularly where it is part-time places, and statistics regarding provision in other 

local schools of nursery places which would not be great enough to absorb the 50 

part-time places lost if Hawley closed. He also points out that the local state schools 

are not nearby, that it is proposed to reduce one of them, Primrose Hill, to 2-form 

entry and that in the immediate vicinity of Hawley there is a “predominance of church 

schools,…allowing for no real parental choice”. For this section of the report, Mr 

Conolly provides supporting evidence of nursery requirements  and places available. 

 

The report concludes with a full discussion of the advantages of a small school for 

very young children and responses to the ILEA assertions that there would be 

difficulties presented by such a small staff as Hawley’s and resultant class 

organisational difficulties such as family grouping (where mixed-year children are in 

the same class) which was already partially and successfully in practice at Hawley. 

Information is also given about the fact that the school’s catchment area has a 

significant number of one-parent families and households where the mother of 

children under five works and that the school has attracted many non-English 

speaking children. 

 

Following the consultation period, the ILEA Development Sub-Committee reported on 

the future of Hawley in July, 1975: 



 
 

The campaign of opposition to the closure and Mr Conolly’s very thorough submission 

of the case for keeping the school open had been successful! 

 

And now the future… 

 

By this decision, the future of Hawley Infants School and its nursery was assured. A 

new headteacher, Mrs Beryl Laoutaris, was appointed to start in January, 1976.  

 

During the uncertainty resultant from the threat of closure, the school had lost pupils, 

particularly in the nursery, and staff vacancies had been filled with a series of 

temporary supply teachers. Under Beryl Laoutauris’s creative management, the 

building was renovated, permanent and dedicated staff appointed and pupil 

recruitment rapidly filled the vacant places. Hawley Infants School became a highly 

popular local school and there was always a waiting list for places in Nursery and 

Reception classes.  

 

The issue of there being no “Hawley Junior School” however became an increasing 

problem. Up until the early 1980s, Hawley had always had a relationship with 

Primrose Hill Juniors (then a separate school to Primrose Hill Infants) who would take 

any Hawley pupils who wished to transfer there at age 7; there was good liaison 

between the two schools and the junior school teacher would visit Hawley to meet the 

pupils there and arrange for them to visit their new classes in Primrose Hill. This 

made the transition was relatively easy for those children and families felt secure in 

knowing that there was a place there for their children, though of course some chose 

to transfer to other local schools for various reasons. Unfortunately changes in 

Primrose Hill Juniors made the arrangement impossible to maintain and Hawley 

families were left to apply for places at any local junior school where they felt they 

had a chance of obtaining a place. This was socially disruptive for the children, though 

most did at least end up going to a junior school with a few other Hawley children. It 

also had the effect that some children left Hawley before or during their final year to 



take up a place that had become vacant at the school in which their parents wished 

them to continue after age 7.  

 

The governors of the school and the local authority over the years considered several 

options for finding a way to have a Hawley Junior School, looking at possible local 

sites for a new building and also at the feasibility of somehow increasing the school 

on the existing site, but none was found which was financially viable.  

 

The breakthrough came in 2010 when in negotiations for re-development of the 

Hawley Wharf site bounded by the Regents Canal, Hawley Road, Camden High St and 

Kentish Town Rd, the development company agreed to include a new school on the 

site: 

 
From the Welcome Pack for the Hawley Wharf proposals exhibition September 2012 

 

As a result of this, in September, 2016, Hawley Infants School will become Hawley 

Primary School and will move to the new schools building in Hawley Road – the end of 

one exciting era and the start of the next! 

 

  



So, to finish, some photos of Hawley Infants as it has been: 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  



and of Hawley Primary School that will be: 

 

 

 

 
  



Hawley Infants School headteachers 

 

Miss M Boswood 
August,1948- December,1965 (“head assistant”, 
then headmistress 

Miss Bettles Acting headmistress, January-March 1966 

Mrs J Parrish April, 1966-October, 1974 

Mrs Sophie Darlow 
Acting headmistress, October 1974- December, 
1975 

Mrs Beryl Laotauris January, 1976-1981 

Mrs Christine Hammond 1981- August 1988 

Mrs Lynne Manton Acting headteacher, September, 1988-June 1989 

Mrs Julia Griffiths July 1989-March-1999 

Sandie Choi Acting headteacher, April-August, 1999 

Anne Fontaine September, 1999 to present 

 

 


